Accepted Manuscript



This is an *Accepted Manuscript*, which has been through the Royal Society of Chemistry peer review process and has been accepted for publication.

Accepted Manuscripts are published online shortly after acceptance, before technical editing, formatting and proof reading. Using this free service, authors can make their results available to the community, in citable form, before we publish the edited article. We will replace this Accepted Manuscript with the edited and formatted Advance Article as soon as it is available.

You can find more information about *Accepted Manuscripts* in the **Information for Authors**.

Please note that technical editing may introduce minor changes to the text and/or graphics, which may alter content. The journal's standard <u>Terms & Conditions</u> and the <u>Ethical guidelines</u> still apply. In no event shall the Royal Society of Chemistry be held responsible for any errors or omissions in this *Accepted Manuscript* or any consequences arising from the use of any information it contains.



www.rsc.org/loc

Table of Contents
1 Introduction
2 Current immunological and molecular techniques for pathogen detection in plants
2.1 Indirect techniques: detecting the effect of pathogens on physiological response of plant 5
2.2 Immunological techniques: detecting plant pathogens by affinity binding to the target antigens
2.3 Molecular techniques: direct detection of nucleic acid content of the pathogen
2.4 Current portable and commercialized devices for plant pathogen diagnosis
2.5 Challenges facing microfluidics, biosensors, and portable devices
3 Plant pathogen diagnosis using direct DNA sequencing
3.1 Application of Second (Next) Generation DNA sequencing to plant genomics and pathogen sdetection
3.2 Third generation sequencing (TGS)
3.3 Challenges facing DNA sequencing techniques for plant pathogen detection
4 Future of on-site portable devices for plant pathogen detection
4.1 Contribution of microfluidics for the future of DNA sequencing-based portable devices . 19
4.2 Contributions of DNA sequencing technologies to future portable devices for plant pathogen detection
4.3 The bioinformatics problem: the ultimate challenge of future portable DNA sequencing devices
Conclusion
Acknowledgements
References

Future of portable devices for plant pathogen diagnosis

Amir Sanati Nezhad

McGill University and Genome Quebec Innovation Centre, Department of Biomedical Engineering, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

Abstract

The demand for rapid and accurate diagnosis of plant diseases has risen in the last decade. On-site diagnosis of single or multiple pathogens using portable devices is the first step in this endeavour. Despite extensive attempts to develop portable devices for pathogen detection, current technologies are still restricted to detecting known pathogens with limited detection accuracy. Developing new detection techniques for rapid and accurate detection of multiple plant pathogens and their associated variants is essential. Recent single DNA sequencing technologies are a promising new avenue for developing future portable devices for plant pathogen detection. In this review, we detail the current progress in the portable devices and technologies used for detecting plant pathogens, the current position of emerging sequencing technologies for analysis of plant genomics, and the future of portable devices for rapid pathogen diagnosis.

1 Introduction

Pathogen detection is important in different areas such as clinical research, drug discovery, biological warfare, food safety, and plant health.¹ Among them, plant pathogen detection is important for detecting bacteria, viruses, and fungi in rapid response settings such as greenhouses, country borders, natural landscapes, and mass production facilities. It is essential to detect diseases in trees and shrubs within forests and natural environments, especially for plants that play a major role in the natural landscape and provide habitats for wildlife (Fig. 1a).²⁻⁴ Although the need for plant disease detection in trees is important, it is not as critical as in crops.⁵ It was reported that about 20-30% of the field crops are annually lost due to infection to disease.⁶⁻⁸ In the case of soybean rust, a disease caused by a fungus, it is estimated that removing only 20% of the infection would result in several million-dollars benefit to farmers.⁹ Recently, the Journal of Molecular Plant Pathology announced the top ten bacterial plant pathogens based on both their economic and scientific importance.¹⁰ *Pseudomonas syringae* and *Ralstonia solanacearum* ranked first and second respectively, and are economically important diseases that infect crops ranging from potatoes to bananas (Fig. 1b,c).¹⁰ However, the effective techniques for diagnosis of these top pathogens are rare. There is a strong need to develop new detection techniques for pathogen diagnosis. This is essential to enhance treatment and crop resistance against diseases.¹¹

Previously, knowing the type of plant provided a list of potential bacterial, fungal, and viral diseases associated with that plant (for example, through the Phytopathological Society resources).⁵ Moreover, most of those plant pathogens needed a few days or months to show their symptoms on plant appearance or crop quality. Thus, regular laboratory-based detection techniques were mostly sufficient for pathogen diagnosis and later treatment. Nowadays, rapid pathogen detection is more crucial for several reasons, including recent developments in international trade of

products, increased human mobility and globalization, climate change, emerging pathogens with the resistance to the pesticides, and new regulations limiting the application of toxic chemical materials to prevent the spread of new plant diseases.¹²⁻¹⁴ Also, the expenses required for calendar-based spray schedules are no longer tolerable for farmers.¹⁵ Additionally, at international borders, the delays in sending sample products to expert laboratories for pathogen diagnosis – especially quarantine pathogens – is unacceptable as it may result in long-term economic loss. Both importers and exporters want to diagnose pathogens on the field not at the border. Furthermore, pathogens that present a risk of biological attacks to crops and trees must be detected urgency by on-site diagnostic methods.^{4, 12, 14} The usage of On-site diagnostic tools will facilitate the design of proper pest distribution strategies to prevent the spread of diseases⁷, will improve the design of cultivar choice, and will assist the study of disease epidemiology and the design of new strategies for disease control.¹⁶ This all implies the importance of early detection of pathogens at the point of inspection using on-site detection tools before it causes restrictive import requirements on products.¹⁷

The general intention is to accurately and rapidly detect specific plant pathogens. However, increasingly the agricultural aim today is to detect multiple potential pathogens or newly emerged pathogens without necessarily knowing the plant species or plant diseases associated with that particular group of crops.¹⁸ For example, *Monilinia fruticola, Xanthomonas arboricola pv. pruni*, and *Erwinia amylovora* infections in tree crops are serious threats that cause brown rot, bacterial spot, and fireblight, respectively.¹⁵ However, the main challenge for multiple pathogen detection is that a long list of bacteria, fungi, and viruses may influence the quality of each crop, even though the current technology is limited to detecting only one or a few identified pathogens (Fig. 1d,e).

New technologies should be developed with the aim to rapidly and accurately diagnose both identified and unidentified pathogens, as well as new variants of well-known pathogens.^{4, 5} A prerequisite for future pathogen sensors is to have the ability to diagnose greater numbers of pathogens particularly for plant diseases with several known pathogen sources.^{1, 19} New plant pathogen sensors should satisfy a number of criteria such as: 1) be competitive with laboratory-scale technologies in accuracy and the cost, 2) involve entire on-chip processing steps from sample preparation, enrichment, amplification, and detection, and 3) have a minimum number of manipulation steps.²⁰ The sensor needs to be functional under a wide range of operating conditions and would preferably be portable and simple enough to be used directly by growers and producers.²¹ The sensitivity required depends mainly on its purpose to either identify the presence of pathogen or to detect the degree of infection.

Many people in different levels would benefit from portable devices with the potential for rapid plant pathogen detection including exporters, individual growers and orchardists, producers, researchers, and regulatory agencies.^{16, 22} However, several questions need to be addressed including: 1) whether the current technologies and methods are qualified to satisfy the above requirements, 2) which of the current technologies is predicted to be the leader for future pathogen diagnosis, and 3) what would be the contribution of recent molecular techniques in developing future portable devices? These are challenging questions for the coming years and will define the direction of budgetary spending aimed at developing future diagnostic technologies.²³



Fig. 1 Examples of plant diseases and pathogens, a) Pine wilt disease progression caused by *Bursaphelenchus xylophilus* within only two weeks, b) Tomato plant leaf infected with *Pseudomonas syringae*, ranked first among plant pathogens based on Molecular Plant Pathology announcement.^[10] SEM micrograph of *Pseudomonas syringae*, Source: Gordon Vrdoljak, U.C. Berkeley, Microbewiki, c) *Ralstonia solanacearum* on Geraniums ranked second among bacterial plant pathogens, d) Multiple pathogens on pear fruit due to *M. fructicola*, *M. laxa* & *M. fructigena*. Top left-control; top centre-*M. laxa*; top right-*M. fructigena*; bottom left-M. fructigena; bottom centre-M. fructicola; bottom right-M.*laxa*. H.J. Willetts University of New South Wales (AU), e) SEM micrograph of *Monilinia fructicola*, Source: Microscopetalk, Scale bar: 10 μm.

Here, we review techniques used to identify plant pathogens as well as their challenges and limitations. We further explain the current status of portable devices and commercialized kits used for plant disease diagnosis. Lastly, we anticipate future technology for plant pathogen detection which may satisfy the aforementioned criteria. Present techniques for rapid diagnosis of new or formerly detected diseases show that progress in this area, particularly for unidentified samples, is slow compared to what is needed. However, plant pathogen diagnostics are expected to improve by involving emerging techniques in the coming years. Future devices should not only be able to rapidly detect known plant pathogens but also to detect new pathogens through library generation.

2 Current immunological and molecular techniques for pathogen detection in plants

Traditional means for pathogen diagnosis involve interpreting visual symptoms of disease, followed by pathogen diagnosis using microscopy techniques to confirm the primary data from symptom observation.¹⁶ Although this method may be the cheapest and simplest in some occasions, it cannot diagnose pathogens before the symptoms are observable. Moreover, this approach lacks the accuracy to differentiate the effects of various pathogens based on the observed symptoms. The detection process also needs expertise – plant pathologists and taxonomists – that makes these techniques impractical for on-the-spot diagnosis of plant pathogens. Culturing is another traditional method which usually takes a few days or weeks to indicate the presence of a pathogen in a plant and thus is not practical for rapid pathogen diagnosis. As such, there is a strong interest and need to develop new techniques and on-chip sensors particularly for on-site and rapid diagnosis by unskilled people.

Current methods for rapid pathogen detection with portable devices are categorized into direct and indirect techniques. Direct methods detect properties of the pathogen itself while indirect methods detect the effect of pathogen on the plant behavior. Two main properties of pathogens exploited for direct pathogen detection are the genetic contents and epitopes on the pathogen membrane. Based on these two properties, very diverse methods have been developed for pathogen diagnosis. This diversity implies the strength of current diagnostic techniques for a wide range of plant fungi, bacteria and viruses. In general, these direct techniques are divided into two main subgroups: 1) immunological techniques using antibodies or antibody alternatives and, 2) molecular techniques for plant pathogen detection as well as the relevant portable devices for each case.

2.1 Indirect techniques: detecting the effect of pathogens on physiological response of plant

Indirect techniques are non-invasive methods to identify plant diseases, not through the direct identification of the pathogen, but by detecting the impact of the pathogen on the physiological plant response. Current indirect techniques can be categorized into: 1) spectroscopic and imaging techniques, and 2) volatile organic compounds (VOC) detection methods.⁷

Spectroscopic and imaging techniques include fluorescence spectroscopy²⁵⁻²⁸, visible-IR spectroscopy, and hyperspectral imaging^{29, 30} (Fig. 2a) that are mostly used for monitoring fruit quality, photosynthetic activities, tissue structures, disease symptoms, stress levels, and nutrient deficiencies in plants.^{25, 27, 28} Fluorescence spectroscopy devices monitor physiological stress levels in plants by analyzing fluorescence at different wavelengths.³¹ The response of healthy plants to radiated light varies with the radiation wavelength as a result of light absorption by different plant elements such as photoactive pigments, water, proteins, and other carbon constituents at different wavelengths. The spectral signature is defined as the ratio of the intensity of reflected light to illuminated light for each wavelength in visible (400–700 nm), near-infrared (700–1200 nm), and shortwave infrared (1200–2400 nm) spectral regions. The spectral signature of a diseased plant depends on the influence of that disease on processes such as chlorophyll degradation, photosynthesis, browning, or dryness.³² Plants also respond quickly to pathogens by changing their thermal properties influencing the thermal infrared band (TIR) in the wavelength range of 8000– 14000 nm. This change was used by NMR spectroscopy to detect disease in red raspberries, and by infrared thermography to detect local temperature change due to plant defense mechanisms in tobacco leaves. X-ray imaging, another image-based technique that employs low wavelengths, was used to detect fungal disease in wheat.^{7, 33, 34}

The VOC detection technique detects volatile organic compounds (VOCs) produced by plants. VOC profile is affected by the pathogen presence in a plant, as such it can be used as a non-invasive technique for monitoring plant disease. VOCs released from healthy and diseased plants are sensed using electronic nose devices with integrated gas sensors (each sensor is sensitive to a particular organic compound) and a pattern recognition system. ^{34,35} Volatile components are absorbed on the sensor array surfaces and cause physical changes on the sensors. These changes are typically detected by piezoelectric sensors (gravimetric or acoustic) that propagate acoustic waves of piezoelectric materials, or electrochemical sensors such as potentiometric or conductimetric elements (Fig 2b).³⁵

ab on a Chip Accepted Manuscript

Nose devices have been recently used for diagnosing wheat disease³⁶ and fire blight in pear plants illustrating the strength of electronic nose-based VOC detection as an effective platform for monitoring plant disease.³⁷

Some of the main challenges associated with indirect techniques for plant pathogen detection are: the effects of background data on the VOC measurements due to natural variations in the VOC profile of healthy plants⁷, the selection of disease-specific spectral bands, and choice of appropriate statistical classification algorithms for each particular application.³⁸ As a result, diseases are diagnosable by comparing measurements for healthy and nonhealthy plants. This often requires that devices be re-calibrated for each plant. In addition, indirect methods can only indicate the presence of a disease but cannot detect the specific type of pathogen that caused the disease. There are also challenges in hyper-spectral imaging for plant disease detection, especially when data acquisition is carried out under field conditions.³⁸ Ideally, indirect techniques would be able to detect multiple identified and unidentified pathogens, and identify early onset of disease before severe progression.³² An autonomous detection system that can detect the presence of disease by on-line monitoring of plant response is desirable.



Fig. 2 Laboratory-based tools and portable devices for indirect detection of plant pathogens, a) Hyperspectral imaging system and typical fluorescence spectrum of leaf for excitation at 532 nm, b) The structure of an electronic nose device for detecting volatile organic compounds (VOCs). The nose system is made of a chamber to store the gas, a detection system composed of an array of gas sensors, and a data analysis section. The detection system is typically based on piezoelectric signals or electronic systems.³⁹ The sensing principle for acoustic detection systems is that the addition of a mass onto the crystal surface changes the

device frequency. Meanwhile, in MOSFET gas sensors where the source (n-type) transistor operates with three contacts of the gate, the source and the drain, the gas reaction causes a change in the metal gate or insulator properties leading to a change in the MOSFET sensor's electrical properties and thus a change in the drain current.

2.2 Immunological techniques: detecting plant pathogens by affinity binding to the target antigens

Immunological techniques used for pathogen detection are based on specific and high-affinity binding of the target species to a bio-molecule. For complex plant samples, it is crucial to perform sample preparation steps including separation, isolation, and concentration of target species, to enable effective pathogen sensing.²³ Several physical separation techniques including centrifugation, filtration, electrophoresis, and dielectrophoresis have been used. Also, bio-specific antibody-coated paramagnetic particles have been integrated into biosensors to separate or isolate targeted pathogens from the sample matrix.^{40, 41} However, the effectiveness of most sample preparation techniques is limited in complex samples. Recently, immuno-adsorption on beads was used to selectively isolate targeted pathogens rapidly from complex samples. However, antibody-coated beads has limitations, namely: the high cost of beads required for effective detection, and the need to find antibodies with specific and high affinity to ensure effective pathogen capture.^{42, 43}

After sample preparation to separate pathogens from the sample matrix, targeted pathogens are detected by binding to biomolecules typically in form of antigen-antibody and ligand-receptor interactions. Despite high-affinity of antibodies made *in vivo*, the high cost of *in vivo* extraction from animals⁴⁴, low specificity of *in vitro* synthesized antibodies for priority targets⁴⁵, limited antibody availability for all potential analytes, and low chemical and physical stability of *in vivo* antibodies, makes their application challenging for portable devices. Recent developments in *in vitro* synthesis of affinity binders for lower cost, reliable affinity, and improved stability resulted in synthesis of aptamers as alternative to antibodies with the potential for modification during immobilization and adaptable for several cycles of regeneration.⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸ Other alternatives to antibodies are molecularly imprinted polymers,⁴⁹ protein-based probes, ⁵⁰ small molecule probes,⁵¹ and DNA probes for bacterial pathogen detection (Fig. 3a).^{52, 53} The final stage of immunological pathogen diagnosis is to detect the binding signal by integrating immunological recognition with numerous detection platforms including antibody-directed epifluorescence microscopy⁵⁴, electrochemiluminescence⁵⁵, fiber-optic sensing^{56, 57} and surface plasmon resonance.⁵⁸

Despite progress on immunological biosensors, their applications for on-site pathogen detection are very slow particularly for plant pathogens. Lateral flow devices (LFD) have been developed for plant pathogen detection, particularly for viruses. In lateral flow devices, antigens from target pathogens bind to pathogen-specific antibodies as liquids are drawn through the device by capillary forces and visibly detected by the accumulation of bound particles (Fig. 3b).^{15, 59} Lateral flow devices are often used with a variety of portable readers with different operating mechanisms such as handheld reflectometry, charge-coupled based imaging systems, scanners, and fluorescence systems.^{24, 60-63} Nevertheless, the complexity of integrating detection systems for detecting multiple pathogens, as well as the relatively low sensitivity of lateral flow devices limit their widespread use as portable diagnostics for plant pathogens, especially when diseases are in latent stages.⁶³



Fig. 3 Plant pathogen detection biosensors that rely on indirect affinity-based techniques, **a**) Schematic diagram of a sandwitch assay, where the target DNA sample is bound to immobilized DNA probe on the integrated sensing area and the magnetic label binds the target by streptavidin–biotin interaction. The binding is detected by sensors measuring induced magnetic field, **b**) Schematic of Lateral Flow Device (LFD) binding interaction of target pathogen antigens with pathogen-specific antibodies.

2.3 Molecular techniques: direct detection of nucleic acid content of the pathogen

Molecular techniques are well established for sensitive detection of many plant pathogenss ^{7, 59} Current plant pathogen detection systems operating based on molecular techniques are mainly enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-based methods. In ELISA-based systems, antigens bind to capture antibodies immobilized on a surface. Detection antibodies conjugated to an enzyme then bind to the antigen, followed by addition the enzyme's substrate or fluorescent dye to detect the antigens. In the presence of the pathogens (antigens), the enzyme linked to the antigen generates a signal, confirming the presence of a particular plant disease. ELISAs have been widely used for detecting plant pathogens and testing multiple samples.⁶⁴

On the other hand, PCR is used to detect the presence of a pathogen's deoxyribose nucleic acid (DNA). DNA first needs to be extracted from the pathogen, amplified to obtain thousands to millions of copies by three temperature cycling steps, and then followed by final detection step.^{65, 66} A portable PCR device faces several challenges including: sample preparation, DNA extraction, portable and accurate temperature control system, and sample evaporation concerns in open devices. Also, multiplexing to detect several pathogens poses additional concerns included selecting an adequate detection method as well as complex sequential reagent introduction for multiple pathogen detection. Promisingly, for many of these challenges, we can see progress towards viable solutions either for plant pathogen detection or in related fields.

There have been many attempts at integrating sample preparation with PCR in portable diagnostic devices.⁶⁷ Prior to PCR analysis, cells in the sample need to be lysed to extract their DNA content. Various lysis processes have been developed including: physical⁶⁸, electrical⁶⁹, thermal⁷⁰, and chemical methods⁷¹; however integrating cell lysis often

complicates device fabrication. One particularly promising recent example is the use of Au nanorod for simplified cell lysis. The Au nanorods generated thermal energy that broke down the cells in one step without need for reagent change (Fig. 4a).⁷²

To address temperature cycling concerns in portable devices, isothermal amplification methods have been developed.⁷³ Among various methods of isothermal amplification⁷⁴⁻⁷⁷, loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP) and nucleic acid sequence-based amplification (NASBA) have been applied to plant pathogen detection with potential applications in high throughput and fully integrated PCR systems.^{78, 79} To hinder sample evaporation and to stabilize the sample during the DNA amplification process, samples are commonly covered with mineral oil.⁸⁰

There is a strong demand to detect multiple pathogens with PCR systems. One approach to meet this need is label multiplexing, where the sample is exposed to a mixture of different molecular probes and each one is detected in separate channels (Fig. 4b).⁸¹ However, the number of pathogens that can be detected is limited to the number of detection probe channels available.⁸² Microfluidic environment can facilitate parallel PCR processing in short reaction times with integrated temperature control units for parallel testing.⁸⁰ One of the main perceived strengths of microfluidic platforms is in making multiplex PCR platforms for simultaneous detection of large numbers of complementary DNA sequences in a sample.^{23, 83} One challenge of multiplexed PCR is to integrate proper detection technique to monitor the PCR signal for multiple pathogens. Common techniques for acquiring PCR signals are colour changes that can be observed with the naked eye, or fluorescent intensity measurements.

Although laboratory-based PCR systems with reagent spotters and signal readers provide the capability to detect hundreds of pathogens in one test, the cost of reagents and the integration of detection methods are major challenges that prevent development of portable PCR devices.⁸⁴ At present, there is a lot of interest in developing affordable and portable PCR-based devices for plant pathogen diagnosis.⁵ Isothermal amplification and novel detection systems like bioluminescence and magnetic microbeads align well with the goal of portable microfluidic platforms. Some of the aforementioned techniques have not yet been applied to plant pathogen detection, but would be readily applied to such applications.

Another powerful technique for detecting a large number of complementary DNA sequences in a sample is DNA microarray technology. In DNA microarrays, DNA probes are immobilized or spotted on a fixed matrix and exposed to samples containing various DNA fragments. The strong hybridization of complementary fragments to those probe spots is quantified using diverse detection methods and is used to diagnose pathogens (Fig 4c).⁸⁵⁻⁸⁷ Nowadays, DNA microarray technology is well developed and has the ability to diagnose most identified sets of distinct genetic sequences. DNA microarrays have been used to diagnose plant pathogens in potatoes, tomatoes, and apples^{88, 89}, to distinguish between bacterial phytopathogens, and to differentiate species of *Fusarium* and *Pythium*^{15, 90, 91}.

Due to the competition between primers, the number of target DNA fragments that can be simultaneously amplified in conventional multiplex PCR platforms is limited. PCR and DNA microarray techniques have been composed such that the multiplex PCR amplifies a number of pathogen specific markers that are subsequently detected using DNA microarray.⁹² However, there are several challenges associated with using DNA microarrays for pathogen detection such as low sensitivity for use in a portable device or unexpected amplification of contaminating template DNA in PCR-based DNA microarray platforms.⁹³



Fig. 4 Techniques with high potential for use in portable devices for pathogens isolation and detection, a) AU nanoparticles as an optothermal medium for one step cell lysis and extraction of DNA useful for portable biosensing. The longitudinal resonance of Au nanorods is utilized to transform near infrared energy into thermal energy. The resulting heat can lyse pathogens without need to removal or changing the reagents, **b**) Schematic of a disposable microfluidic device for simultaneous real-time PCR-based detection of multiple pathogens. The device is pre-loaded with different primer pairs while the PCR mixture containing multiple DNA templates is loaded into the loading channel. The mixture fills the microreactors up by both capillary action and air venting. The reactors are subsequently isolated by a single step capillary-based flow toward absorbent for further process of local thermal cycling and PCR reaction, c) The schematic design of DNA microarray for simultaneously detecting a large number of pre-amplified pathogen DNAs.

Although the sensitivity of molecular techniques for pathogen detection has been significantly improved, the application of these techniques for use in a portable device is restricted to the detection of only a few pathogens. High throughput molecular-based techniques for detecting multiple pathogens are time-consuming and labor-intensive and require elaborate work especially during sample preparation (collection and extraction) to obtain

reliable and accurate results. In addition, these techniques require consumable reagents such as sequence-specific primers for PCR or different DNA probes that must be tailored to detect each specific pathogen. Development of these methods for detecting a large number of identified pathogens and their variants remains unsolved. Also, future goals, such as the desire for a portable device that can detect unidentified pathogens, remain unaddressed.

2.4 Current portable and commercialized devices for plant pathogen diagnosis

On-site detection is increasingly important for rapid plant disease diagnosis. The need for on-site detection motivates the production of test devices and kits for use in-field plant disease detection, even by growers themselves. Majority of the abovementioned techniques have only been used in laboratory settings and are not yet commercially available. Only a few of these techniques are currently available as commercial products or with high potential for commercialization. However, efforts are in progress to develop on-the-spot devices with better performance for plant pathology. The main criteria to select the proper device are the sensitivity, cost, and ease of use.

Among indirect techniques, fluorescence spectroscopy and electronic nose are widely used for plant disease diagnosis mostly to determine the freshness of fruits or detect the plant stress in leafs over a defined course of time. Commercial electronic nose devices are available in different handheld configurations (e.g., 4200 Portable zNose of Electronic Sensor Technology, LP), or laboratory-based devices (e.g., FOX series of ALPHA M.O.S. or LibraNOSE of Technobiochip).⁹⁴ Electronic noses differentiate between healthy and infected trees by adjusting odour parameters.⁹⁵ Bloodhound® ST214 electronic nose (an array of 14 conducting polymer-based sensors with one sensor as a reference) is a commercial product applied for detecting volatile pest signatures and monitoring disease in cucumber, pepper, and tomato plants.⁹⁶ Several other portable and handheld devices are also available to measure the firmness of fruits (Fig. 2d).⁹⁷⁻⁹⁹

Amongst direct methods, immunoassays make up most of the commercialized portable devices for plant disease diagnosis. Molecular-based devices are increasingly developing and immunoprinting kits and lateral flow devices (LFDs) are well commercialized to detect plant pathogens.^{15, 100, 101} The simplicity and low-cost capabilities of microfluidic devices have been motivated development of immunochromatographic strips (ICS) for pathogen detection.¹ Lateral flow devices (LFD) are the dominated commercial tool because facilitate simple, quick, and one-step assays. Many LFDs are also commercially available to detect plant viruses, bacteria, and fungi.^{24, 63, 102} EnviroLogix LFDs enable growers to quickly and accurately confirm the presence of tomato apex necrosis virus in the field within 10 min. The performance of LFDs has been enhanced by integrating Bluetooth communication to export data for analysis in a local laboratory (http://www.forsitediagnostics.com/forsite_lfdr101_reader). However, because of the relatively low sensitivity of LFDs, their application is limited to where the sensitivity is adequate for detection. Their commercial use is devoted to pathogens with well-characterized and specific antibodies. In addition, since LFDs are generally designed for single pathogen detection, their practical application for detecting several pathogens is problematic due to the rather high cost per LFD unit.¹⁵ ELISA kits are another commonly

immunological-based detection system for detecting plant pathogens. For example, an ELISA kit (PlantPrint Diagnostics, http://www.plantprint.net) has been developed to diagnose citrus tristeza virus.¹⁵

In contrast to immunological portable devices, PCR-based tools are used where higher sensitivity is necessary. Cepheid SmartCycler is primary real time PCR-based tools with robust and rapid detection used for detection of oomycete plant pathogen and *Phytophthoraramorum* as the cause of sudden oak death disease.¹⁰³ Bioseeq plus is another device used for diagnosis of anthrax and plague as biowarfare agents.¹⁰⁴ PCR-based devices are also integrated with suitable user interfaces such as Stepone (Applied Biosystems) or can perform entirely automatic tasks such as GeneExpert (Cepheid) that does not need to user intervention.²⁴ Despite their application for on-the-spot pathogen detection, their use still requires expertise for reagent manipulation. Some PCR-based systems such as the Bioseeq Plus are very expensive and their application is limited to dangerous pathogens.

Modified PCR-based methods have provided improved platforms for plant pathogen diagnosis. Rich et al recently reviewed commercial biosensors with the potential for use in "food, agricultural, veterinary, and environmental sciences".¹⁰⁵ A list of companies producing and commercializing microfluidic devices for agricultural applications were also reported by Neethirajan et al.¹⁰⁶ Several other commercially available test kits for use in detecting plant pathogens were reviewed elsewhere.^{107, 108}

Besides the commercialized tools, several other research groups have developed highly sensitive handheld devices and fully integrated biosensors with commercialization potential.^{15, 109-111} Readily-made modifications would make these new biosensors directly usable for agricultural applications. The combination of a group of bio-recognition reagents and high-throughput time-resolved fluorescence (TRF) readers may facilitate screening of different pathogens in a single run and has the potential to be modified for detecting plant pathogens.²³

Despite the development of numerous commercialized devices, no device exists yet for on-site diagnosis of multiple plant pathogens. The agricultural industry is seeking rapid on-site, and accurate techniques for detecting plant diseases. The problem of true on-site testing may be untangled by portable devices relying on alternative nucleic acid amplification technologies and not exclusively by using conventional PCR or its modifications.

2.5 Challenges facing microfluidics, biosensors, and portable devices

Some of the drawbacks of microfluidics and biosensor platforms for on-site diagnosis of multiple pathogens are: sample evaporation, limited lifetime of biological reagents, packaging, reagent storage, weak selectivity in complex sample matrices (e.g. plant samples and newly discovered pathogens), complexity of manipulations, and the cost of detecting multiple pathogens per chip.^{4, 94, 112} Future application of DNA microarrays in plant pathology are questionable due to the high cost and limited capacity for sample throughput. Progress to develop portable devices for identification of new pathogens using current technology is very slow.²⁴ However ongoing advances in nanotechnology and biosensor technology are anticipated to improve the sensitivity of sensors and overcome the challenges in the near future.¹¹³

3 Plant pathogen diagnosis using direct DNA sequencing

In genomic analysis of an organism, the entire genomic information (DNA or RNA) is sequenced. Sequencing refers to determining the order of the nucleotides in the DNA sequencing and arrangement of amino acids in protein sequencing.^{114, 115} DNA sequencing dramatically benefits the biological, biomedical, and medical studies. The more advances in DNA sequencing technologies the greater the speed and efficiency of genome sequencing. The success of the 1,000 Genomes Project and announcement of Wellcome Trust project in 2010 targets genome-wide sequence data for thousands of individuals and indicates the significance and benefits of DNA sequencing. Similar benefits are offered to plant science by advances in sequencing technologies. The 1,001 Arabidopsis Genomes Project¹¹⁶ and 1000 Plant Genomes Project were launched to target the sequence genomes of thousands of plant species.¹¹⁷ Analyzing genomes of plant pathogens provides new information about the processes and genes involved in the host colonization and pathogenicity that offers identification of unknown plant pathogens.

Old Sanger sequencing technique uses dideoxynucleotide chain termination to determine the sequence of nucleotides in a DNA strand which requires many template fragments of varying sizes. Old Sanger sequencing has been used to sequence the genomes of model plants as well as crop species such as rice, sorghum, soybean and grape.¹¹⁸⁻¹²² While it was successful for a few plants with small or medium genomes, its application for the plants such as wheat is challenging due to the large and complex 16 Giga-bases genomes and resulting high cost and time of sequencing. Development of next generation sequencing (NGS) technologies have cured our knowledge of genomics beyond Sanger sequencing and is expected to secure the future establishment of databases for both human genes and plant pathogens.^{5, 123} Rapid sequencing of nucleic acids from infected plants will assist to detect a large number of identified plant pathogens and to diagnose unknown disease agents without need for prior knowledge of its molecular sequence. ¹²⁴⁻¹²⁶ This progress will assist the study of crop genetics, breeding, and plant resistance to disease.¹¹ Here, we discuss the application of different generations of DNA sequencing systems to plant pathogen diagnosis. The contribution of each system for on-site pathogen detection with future portable devices is explained.

3.1 Application of Second (Next) Generation DNA sequencing to plant genomics and pathogen sdetection

Next-generation sequencing (NGS) is a technology that dramatically facilitated genome sequencing at lower costs for all branches of life sciences. NGS emerged in 2005 using commercial Solexa sequencing technology and expanded rapidly to different systems. NGS techniques are basically grouped into sequencing by synthesis or sequencing by ligation. In synthesis-based sequencing, after fragmentation of DNA samples, the complementary DNA strand is synthesized by DNA polymerase while a chemical or fluorescent signal resulting from the nucleotide incorporation is detected to identify the sequence. The main commercial synthesis-based sequencing technologies are Roche 454 pyrosequencing, Illumina (solid-phase bridge amplification), and Ion Torrent.¹²³

Roche 454 pyrosequencing is based on adhesion of single or primed DNA template to a microbead and amplification using emulsion PCR in such a way that each bead is individually placed within a well, subjected to the flow cell and incubated with DNA polymerase, ATP sulfurylase, luciferase, substrates luciferin and adenosine 5'-phosphosulfate (ASP). Following polymerase, dNTP is incorporated into the DNA strand and produces ATP as the

i age 14 of

catalyst required for converting luciferin to oxyluciferin in order to emit light. All free ATP and nucleotides are washed and the process is repeated more times until the DNA template is elongated to the desired length (Fig. 5a).^{127, 128} In the widely used Illumina system, solid-phase bridge amplification is used where each end of a DNA template is ligated with adapters.¹²⁹⁻¹³² While one end of adapter-conjugated DNA fragment is attached to a substrate, the other end makes a bridge with immobilized primers and generates clusters of identical template in order to enhance the chemiluminescent signal. This process continues in a cycle in the presence of a mixture of four nucleotides, followed by image capture while each nucleotide is labeled with a different fluorophore. This cycle is repeated until the DNA fragment is synthesized to its target length. In the recent Ion Torrent system, by sequentially adding nucleotides, the incorporated nucleotide is detected by measuring pH change due to the release of H⁺ ions^{133, 134}. The low cost of sample preparation in the Ion Torrent system has made it an appealing device for sequencing the genomes of various organisms and a promising option for plant genomics and pathogen detection.^{119, 133}

In ligation-based sequencing such as the Life Technologies system, called Support Oligonucleotide Ligation Detection (SOLiD), the DNA is first fragmented – and depending upon the nucleotide to be determined – primed with a short known anchor sequence. The primed DNA template is added to the flow cell and hybridizes fluorescently labeled probes of varying lengths.¹³⁵ The type of incorporated probe is then detected using fluorescence imaging. Polonator is another commercial system relies on ligation sequencing that amplifies DNA templates by emulsion PCR with fully automated polymerase colony of loaded beads and sequencing by ligation.¹³⁶

Next generation sequencing systems are able to simultaneously read the sequence of millions of short DNA fragments (typically 25-400 bps in length).¹³⁷ These platforms enable quick, low cost, and comprehensive sequencing of complex nucleic acid populations with huge impact on medical academic research and in particular crop genomes which consist of several thousand million DNA base pairs.^{138, 139}

A recent review compares different next generation sequencing techniques based on their benefits and drawbacks.¹¹⁹ NGS systems vary in terms of the length of each sequence read, the total bases sequenced, and the price of sequence per megabase (Mb). Depending upon the application, one particular type of NGS may be more competent than the others. The cost of sequencing by NGS technologies (US\$4–90 per Mb) is much lower than Sanger technology (US\$ 1330 per Mb) which has made it the conquering technology for current genome sequencing.¹⁴⁰ In addition, NGS systems have also been used to sequence plant genomes including: genome of the obroma cacao, apple genome, chickpea, and date palm.^{119, 141-143} Many other crop genomes and their wild relatives are current being sequenced.^{5, 11, 119, 137, 144} Sequencing the prokaryotic and eukaryotic plant pathogens and detection of microorganisms existing in diseased plant tissues are the other applications of NGS in plant health.



Fig. 5 Sample Next generation sequencing, Third generation sequencing and microfluidic techniques with a high potential for integration and use in a portable device for plant pathogen detection, **a**) The mechanism of the Roche/454 sequencer that operates based on synthesis. The mechanism of Roche/454 sequencer method is based on amplifying single-stranded DNA copies from a fragment library on agarose beads. DNA fragments and agarose beads containing complementary oligonucleotides to the adapters at the fragment ends are mixed. The mixture is subsequently combined with the PCR reactants surrounded by oil and after encapsulation is pipetted into a 96-well microtiter plate for PCR amplification to provide a million copies of the original DNA fragment required for generating strong detection signal, **b**) The basic design of nanopore-based DNA sequencing, where a voltage across the pore causes ion migration towards the membrane and transport through the pore. The generated electric current is measured by high-bandwidth electrometer, **c**) Optical nanopore-sequencing platform. DNA molecular is first converted into oligonucleotides of known sequence representing the four DNA nucleobases and then hybridizes molecular beacons. Passage of hybridized DNA through nanopore unzips the beacons and induces photon burst in one of four colors. Optical system is used to perform parallel detection of emitted photons, **d**) Droplet microfluidic for high-throughput sample preparation.

-ab on a Chip Accepted Manuscript

Lab on a Chip

Sequences produced by NGS technology from a diseased plant include sequences from any pathogens present. However, this sequence also includes the large genome size of the host plant, complicating DNA sequencing of the targeted pathogens. Hence, depending on the pathogen concentration and sample matrix, an extra enrichment step may be necessary to purify the nucleic acids and to reduce the complexity and the cost of sequencing.^{74, 145}

Among various targeted enrichment techniques in plant biology¹⁴⁶, the standard PCR-based, hybridization-based, and sequence-capture based techniques have been widely used along with NGS systems. Standard PCR was used as effective enrichment technique with the earliest NGS systems, but due to the high cost and the challenges for integrating with the new high-throughput NGS technologies its application is only limited to the old NGS devices.¹⁴⁶ Along with the standard PCR, the technique of multiple displacement amplification (MDA) was developed using random hexamer primers to amplify a relatively complete genome. This can significantly increase the quantity and chance of pathogen detection.⁹³ In the hybridization-based enrichment technique, when the complex DNA is applied to the array, the target fragments of DNA hybridize the probes while the non-desired regions are washed away. However, the hybridization techniques needs usage of blocking DNA which restrain non-specific DNA binding leading to the capturing of "off-target fragments".¹⁴⁷ Sequence-capture technology is the alternative to the hybridization-based enrichment which resequence targeted regions of genome, where the library of repetitive sequences is depleted first, while the target region is secondly enriched. ¹⁴⁶

Applications of these enrichment techniques in plants are still in their infancy, but have been used for different plants such as Sorghum bicolor, Bread wheat, Triticum aestivum, black cottonwood, pine genome, and particularly for crops of maize, conifers, and wheat with large genomes and complicated high-copy repeat interspersion. ^{146, 148-152} Through isolation of total DNA or RNA from disease plant, elimination of host nucleic acid, enrichment of pathogen DNA, and exploitation of different NGS technologies, ^{29, 11, 145} a variety of known and unknown plant pathogens have been detected. Pathogens detected with NGS technologies include Pyrenophora teres f. teres¹⁴⁹, Phytophthora infestans¹⁵⁰, viruses in sweet potato¹²⁴, rice stripe virus¹²⁵, tomato necrotic stunt virus¹²⁶, Caulimoviridae clearing virus¹⁵³ and Grapevine red-blotch-associated virus¹⁵⁴. The expansion of the identified gene pool available for plants will assist to re-sequence whole crop genomes, to improve the crop genome diversity, and to discover new genetic markers useful in breeding.¹³⁷

3.2 Third generation sequencing (TGS)

In contrast to NGS techniques where the sequencing reaction is detected on amplified clonal DNA templates by emulsion or solid phase PCR methods, single molecule sequencing (SMS) uses single DNA molecules for sequence reactions without need for DNA template amplification. Accordingly, NGS are referred to as second-generation sequencing (SGS) technologies and more recent single molecule sequencing technologies are known as third-generation sequencing (TGS).¹¹⁹ Although the technology of SMS systems has been employed mostly for human genomics so far, a few applications to plant genomics and pathogen detection have reported^{114, 155} TGS are superior to SGS as they simplify the sample preparation, increase the detection accuracy by eliminating PCR-caused errors,

and generate longer sequence reads by better throughput platforms.^{119, 156} It is anticipated that TGS technology will not only be used for whole genome sequencing of diverse plants, but will also be used with degrees of modification in future portable devices for rapid plant pathogen diagnosis. Accordingly, the current state of TGS research for plant pathogen diagnosis is worth discussing.

Currently, academic or commercial efforts on single molecule DNA sequencing can be grouped into 1) fluorescence-based methods such as true single-molecule sequencing (tSMS) and single-molecule real-time sequencing (SMRT) and; 2) non-fluorescent sequencing systems like nanopore-based sequencing, pyrosequencing, motion-based sequencing and scanning tunneling spectroscopy-based sequencing. In True single-molecule sequencing, the sequence of DNA strands immobilized in a flow cell is detected by adding DNA polymerase and fluorescently labeled nucleotides, added one at a time in a cyclic manner.¹⁵⁷ In single-molecule real-time sequencing techniques, the chip is made of thousands of zero-mode waveguides (ZMW), where a single DNA polymerase molecule is immobilized on each ZMW. When nucleotides labeled with different fluorophores are applied to the chip, DNA synthesis occurs followed by emission of base-specific fluorophores. This continues by cleavage of phosphogroups and incorporation of the next nucleotide.¹⁵⁸

Nanopore technology provides an extremely confined gap within which single nucleic acid polymers are analyzed. Under a small voltage imposed across a nanopore sandwiched between two aqueous electrolytes chambers, DNA is directed through the pore and the resulting ionic current is measured (Fig. 5b). Polymers with kilobase length (sstDNA or RNA) or small molecules (e.g., nucleosides) can be identified without need to amplify or label the original DNA. The DNA or RNA can be sequenced using inherent electronic or chemical properties of each nucleotide once the DNA is conducted through the nanopore by cleaving or using an enzyme (Fig 5c).¹⁵⁹⁻¹⁶¹

Several companies have brought commercial TGS systems to the market to perform sequencing with dramatic low cost compare to SGS methods.¹³⁷ Helicos Biosciences is the first commercial product that relies on true Single-Molecule Sequencing (tSMS).¹⁶² Pacific biosciences developed a Single Molecule Real Time (SMRT) sequencing system with the ability of sequencing the length of several Gbp with rather long reads of 1 kbp.^{139, 163} Oxford Nanopore technology and recently IBM's plan of silicon-based nanopores are the recent devices developed for third generation DNA sequencing.¹⁶⁴ It is hoped that the advances in different SMS techniques will ultimately lead to even more commercial platforms.¹⁶⁵ Nanopore technology with a high-throughput system is considered promising as the future technique for rapid DNA sequencing.¹⁶⁶ However, several challenges have to be addressed especially to slow down the speed of passage through nanopores in a manner that the detection method would be able to detect each nucletoide at the time.¹⁵⁹⁻¹⁶¹

3.3 Challenges facing DNA sequencing techniques for plant pathogen detection

Since NGS and TGS technologies read the sequence of a large number of fragmented DNAs and generate an extensive amount of data using high-throughput systems, computational biology and bioinformatics have crucial roles to play for data storage, transfer and analysis.^{167, 168}

ab on a Chip Accepted Manuscript

Lab on a Chip

In comparison with the other NGS techniques, the Roche 454 technology is more compatible with a portable device for pathogen detection. It produces the longest reads amongst the currently available NGS technologies which clearly simplifies the cost of data assembly and analysis (Fig. 5a). In addition, the bead-based and microwell design of Roche 454 simplifies the integration of this technique with available high-throughput microfluidic platforms such as droplet microfluidics for sample preparation (Fig. 5d) and enrichment before sequencing.¹²³

The other NGS technologies are more challenging for integration with an integrated sample preparation step and for use in a portable device. The situation gets worse for technologies like the Illumina that have shorter reads.^{114, 169} Novel computational techniques are established to elicit the genome of sample from a large number of short lengths. Well-founded software and informatics algorithms to manage the assembly and analysis of sequences currently exist or are in development.^{138, 170, 171}, although their integration with portable devices is yet debatable due to costly analysis and low accuracy of quality control. The challenge of developing a portable DNA sequencing technology is greater for plants with very long and complex genomes like wheat (16 Gbp), in contrast to the less complex genomes of cereal (5 Gbp) and maize (2.3 Gbp).¹⁷² Because of this complexity, the identification of the genetic variations in the genomes of closely related plant species is cumbersome.¹¹⁴

For plant species without sequenced genomes, the alternative technique for pathogen detection is to identify new markers and to use the aforementioned molecular and immunological-based techniques.¹³⁹ Attempts at data analysis for plant sample sequencing are currently in progress. For example, iPlant Collaborative company presents infrastructure and tools to address the problems of data analysis of NGS technology for plant samples.¹⁷¹ New strategies have improved the assembly algorithms used for genomics analysis of several plants.^{114, 122}

Although DNA sequencing is a promising approach for future portable devices for plant pathogen detection, there are several limitations that prevent widespread on-site adoption of sequencing technologies. Data analysis remains a hurdle that prevents usage in developing countries where internet and communication networks are not readily available for sending data from a sequencing device to a central database or bioinformatics lab for further studies.^{137, 173} Another challenge is the interval needed to read the required DNA lengths for on-site pathogen detection. Although using technologies that generate shorter sequence reads lessens the time required for extracting data, shorter sequence reads deteriorate the bioinformatic analysis and accuracy of genome analysis. Both the interval of data extraction and the accuracy criterion need to be considered when developing future portable devices. The read lengths of TGS technologies are approaching 1 kb facilitating bioinformatics approaches relevant to de novo assembly, while maintaining reasonable data extraction times that are reasonable for a portable device.¹¹⁹

4 Future of on-site portable devices for plant pathogen detection

Based on the necessity of rapid detection of multiple pathogens, the diversity of plant variants, and the constraints of current immunological and molecular-based portable devices, it is anticipated that direct DNA sequencing will be the dominant technology for future portable devices over the next decade.¹⁵ The main reasons for the delay in implementing DNA sequencing techniques for routine use are technical challenges and high cost. These two concerns need to be addressed when developing DNA sequencing-based detection techniques for plant health

applications. The technical challenges are related to the limitations of current DNA sequencing technologies in detecting complex and long sequences of plant genomes. Meanwhile, the challenge of high cost is focused on deciding which of the available technologies will have the highest impact on future portable devices and how those technologies could be miniaturized in an inexpensive format for on-site use by non-experts.

Although, it is predicted that direct DNA sequencing will likely be the conquering technique for on-site plant pathogen detection, a few important steps are still currently missing before portable devices can be developed. Two main steps (one pre-processing step and one post-processing step) should go along with plant DNA sequencing. Unlike human samples, plant samples contain intricate communities of microorganisms. As a result, effective sample preparation techniques need to be tailored for plant samples.¹¹ In addition, the bioinformatics post-processing step is critical to discriminate between host and pathogen sequences. Because biological knowledge might be necessary for proper data interpretation, accurate and reliable gene sequence databases will be essential for sequence-based diagnosis of plant-associated microorganisms at the international level. New pathogens and plant variants should be rapidly detected. This requires high accuracy in both DNA sequencing and plant genomic analysis to distinguish known pathogens and their similar variants. Future platforms should be able to diagnose unknown pathogens from DNA sequencing databases.^{11, 174} Based on these requirements, the key solution for the future portable devices will be to integrate the capabilities of microfluidic platforms with one of the present direct DNA sequencing techniques.

4.1 Contribution of microfluidics for the future of DNA sequencing-based portable devices

Microfluidic systems have several advantages, including: the intrinsic feature of laminar flow, miniaturization, portability, high surface to volume ratio, fast rate of mass transfer, and the ability to handle very small volumes of sample, that make them an appropriate platform for sample-to-result devices such as for sample preparation required prior to DNA sequencing.¹⁷⁵ Current progress in biosensors for sample preparation, DNA extraction, and development of parallel microarrays and high-throughput designs can be applied to DNA sequencing technologies.

Sample preparation is one major area where the contribution of microfluidic devices for future portable DNA sequencing devices would be significant. For plant samples, this step is extremely essential to enrich the sample, remove inhibitors, and concentrate pathogens from biological samples or tissue lysate. Dielectrophoresis (DEP), diverse metallic and magnetic micro/nano particles as well as different physical, chemical or membrane-based filters are broadly used approaches for DNA and RNA sample preparation in microfluidic devices.^{74, 176-186} The potential for multilayer structures in microfluidic platforms is another specific feature that can be applied for sample preparation and filtering purposes, for instance using integrating micropillars.¹⁸⁷

Another area where existing microfluidic and lab-on-chip platforms can be applied to DNA sequencing technologies is in the detection of multiple pathogens. High-throughput designs and microarray-based methods based on microfluidic platforms have been broadly reported.¹⁸⁸ High-throughput platforms were implemented by integrating parallel microchannels, micro-pumps, and micro-valves as well as exploiting various techniques for cell/molecule trapping and transport (Fig. 4b).¹⁸⁹⁻¹⁹² Typically fluid handling for these high-throughput systems is provided by 1)

simple fabricated low-cost pumps such as electro-hydraulic pump (EHP) and Lab-on-a-disk devices^{76, 193} or 2) by pump-less and valve-less systems relying on gravity-driven flow, electrokinetic, electroosmotic, and capillary-based systems provide superior platforms for portable devices.¹⁹⁴⁻¹⁹⁷

Among various techniques for cell/DNA transport within microfluidic chips, microdroplet-based devices and digital microfluidics (DMF) are well-suited to high-throughput systems for single molecule or cell isolation, single cell genetic analysis, PCR, cell lysis, and DNA hybridization.^{70, 106, 198, 199} Droplets trap target DNAs and conduct them toward array-based detection regions for DNA sequencing.²⁰⁰ In digital microfluidic (DMF) platforms, droplets are individually transported over 2D high-throughput arrays of electrodes based on the electrowetting on dielectric (EWOD) principle. Digital microfluidic platforms have been applied to DNA hybridization and PCR.²⁰¹⁻²⁰³

Despite current progress in the field, an integrated microfluidic device that performs all or most of the steps for automated DNA extraction, amplification, and sequencing has rarely been implemented.^{164, 204-207} Development of new microfluidic techniques for separating the DNA content of the plant pathogen from the host origin is very promising.^{11, 145, 208, 209} Without this separation, the heavy contamination with sequences of host origin results in limited sensitivity of portable device and also complicates bioinformatics analysis for pathogen detection.

4.2 Contributions of DNA sequencing technologies to future portable devices for plant pathogen detection

Once the DNA content of a diseased plant is filtered from the sample using microfluidics, it should be directed toward the detection site in order to identify its DNA sequence. Existing NGS and TGS technologies were discussed in section 3; however, the successful adoption of any of these techniques into a portable device for plant pathogen detection depends mainly on the capability for fast, accurate, and high-throughput sequencing, compatibility with microfluidic pre-processing environments, and the merits of detecting complicated genomes to study diversity and genetic variations.^{114, 210} An appropriate sequencing technology for plant pathogen detection should be able to sequence large DNA fragments in a parallel sequencing process with thousands or millions of sequences to efficiently reduce the cost of sequencing for use in a portable platform. Some of the current DNA sequencing technologies such as the Roche/454 sequencer (Fig 5a) are tolerably high-throughput and more compatible with a portable microfluidic-based device with the ability of sequencing technologies discussed in section 3.1, the DNA is sequenced using PCR or hybridization, where nucleotide formation is needed one by one necessitating a large number of reagent introduction, detection, and washing steps. This complicates the sequencing process, making its practical use in portable devices questionable.

Recent progress on single DNA sequencing techniques have shown promising results for rapid and accurate DNA sequencing in comparison with the NGS methods, although there are several challenges yet to be addressed.¹⁶⁶ For instance, for nanopore sequencing system, despite its potential for robust, inexpensive, and fast sequencing in portable devices, there are challenges such as: 1) optimizing its performance to better contrast the bases, 2) controlling the unidirectional translocation to stably sample over noise and molecular motion, 3) controlling DNA velocity and orientation during translocation and 4) distinguishing each base from the next base in the unknown

DNA sequence.^{166, 211-214} In addition, to use nanopore technology in a high-throughput portable device, it should be implemented in high-throughput arrays of nanopores for simultaneously reading a large number of short DNA fragments. Two optical detection techniques for high-throughput reading of the translocating DNAs sequence and the electrostatic DNA detection based on a metal-oxide-silicon capacitor integrated into the nanopore have brought hope for future use of nanopore technology in whole genome sequencing.²¹⁵ Despite its potential for high-throughput sensing, the fabrication of arrays of uniform solid-state nanopores with diameters between 1.5 and 2.0 nm with integrated capacitors remains a huge challenge.^{216, 217} The integration of solid state nanopores with microfluidic platforms for DNA enrichment and manipulation toward the nanopore is another challenge that should be addressed. Also, the microelectronic detection system integrated in the nanopore technology is still naive for single DNA sequencing and pathogen detection, the recent portable device by MinION Oxford Nanopore released in 2014 is expected to be directly used for DNA sequencing with minimum need for sample preparation.

pathogen detection, the combination of NGS techniques and microfluidic devices can be used in future for detecting a large library of plant pathogens. At the moment, it is not clear which target enrichment techniques will be adopted for future portable devices, however it is expected that the use of these techniques will be essential for effective pathogen detection for a lower sequencing cost. PCR-based enrichment coupled with high-throughput NGS platforms is expected to be an alternative practical technique for a portable device. In addition, microdroplet PCR techniques can be used to manipulate high-throughput droplets containing fragmented genomic DNA and PCR reagents for targeting different regions of genome followed by DNA sequencing using the techniques used in Roche 454 or Illumina platforms. In addition to proposed DNA sequencing techniques, real-time PCR is a sensitive and rapid technique useful for high throughput screening and will continue to be used for plant pathologists in the near future. Although the development of microarray-based plant pathogen detection is slow mainly because of low sensitivity and high reagent cost, it has promising potential especially when coupled with multiplex-PCR. This combination may need several years to be recognized as a practical portable tool for on-field detection of plant pathogens.

4.3 The bioinformatics problem: the ultimate challenge of future portable DNA sequencing devices

Even though future portable devices would likely be able to sequence complicated plant genomes, the analysis of huge sequence databases presents the most significant challenge to future portable devices. Plant genome sequences need to be compared against databases of known pathogen sequences by pair-wise sequence-similarity search methods. These techniques are not sufficient to diagnose new pathogens, thereby there is an essential need to develop new techniques to diagnose unknown pathogens or variants of a known pathogen. In this context, new pathogens should be detected by comparing the genome of a diseased plant and a healthy reference plant – this is currently challenging due to poor alignment of short sequence reads.^{123, 131}

ab on a Chip Accepted Manuscript

Conclusion

Based on the urgent need for rapid detection of multiple known or unknown pathogens, the performance of currently available portable devices, and the recent progress in third generation sequencing technology, it is concluded that that future portable devices for plant disease diagnosis will integrate ultra high-throughput direct DNA sequencing with microfluidic and microelectronic platforms. These field-based portable devices are anticipated to be useful for laboratory-based experiments to generate databases and protocols for protecting plants. Furthermore, these devices would also be used for developing new markers with important agricultural implications in breeding programs for crop improvement.

Acknowledgements

The author thanks Ayokunle Olanrewaju for his critical review and helpful comments on this manuscript.

References

- 1. A. Foudeh, T. Fatanat-Didar, T. Veres and M. Tabrizian, Lab on a Chip, 2012, 12, 3249-3266.
- 2. C. Brasier, Plant Pathology, 2008, 57, 792-808.
- 3. C. Lui, N. C. Cady and C. A. Batt, Sensors, 2009, 9, 3713-3744.
- 4. S. W. Dutse and N. A. Yusof, *Sensors*, 2011, **11**, 5754-5768.
- 5. J. Lucas, The Journal of Agricultural Science, 2010, 1, 1-24.
- 6. E. C. Oerke, Journal of Agricultural Science-Cambridge, 2006, 144, 31-43.
- 7. S. Sankaran, A. Mishra, R. Ehsani and C. Davis, *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 2010, 72, 1-13.
- 8. D. Pimentel, R. Zuniga and D. Morrison, *Ecological Economics*, 2005, **52**, 273-288.
- 9. M. J. Roberts, Ideas.repec.org, 2006.
- J. Mansfield, S. Genin, S. Magori, V. Citovsky, M. Sriariyanum, P. Ronald, M. Dow, V. Verdier, S. V. Beer and M. A. Machado, Molecular *Plant Pathology*, 2012,13, 614–629.
- 11. D. J. Studholme, R. H. Glover and N. Boonham, Annual review of phytopathology, 2011, 49, 87-105.
- 12. P. K. Anderson, A. A. Cunningham, N. G. Patel, F. J. Morales, P. R. Epstein and P. Daszak, *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 2004, **19**, 535-544.
- 13. L. A. Meyerson and J. K. Reaser, *BioScience*, 2002, **52**, 593-600.
- 14. R. N. Strange and P. R. Scott, Annal. Review Phytopathol, 2005, 43, 83-116.
- 15. S. H. De Boer and M. M. López, Annual Review of Phytopathology, 2012, 50, 197-218.
- 16. E. Ward, S. J. Foster, B. A. Fraaije and H. A. Mccartney, Annals of Applied Biology, 2004, 145, 1-16.
- J. Fletcher, C. Bender, B. Budowle, W. Cobb, S. Gold, C. Ishimaru, D. Luster, U. Melcher, R. Murch and H. Scherm, Microbiology and molecular biology reviews, 2006, 70, 450-471.
- 18. T. Kikuchi, T. Aikawa, Y. Oeda, N. Karim and N. Kanzaki, *Phytopathology*, 2009, 99, 1365-1369.
- 19. B. Weigl, G. Domingo, P. LaBarre and J. Gerlach, Lab on Chip, 2008, 8, 1999-2014.
- 20. J. Mairhofer, K. Roppert and P. Ertl, Sensors, 2009, 9, 4804-4823.
- 21. P. Yager, T. Edwards, E. Fu, K. Helton, K. Nelson, M. R. Tam and B. H. Weigl, Nature, 2006, 442, 412-418.
- 22. H. A. McCartney, S. J. Foster, B. A. Fraaije and E. Ward, Pest Management Science, 2003, 59, 129-142.
- 23. A. G. Gehring and S. I. Tu, Annual Review of Analytical Chemistry, 2011, 4, 151-172.
- 24. N. Boonham, R. Glover, J. Tomlinson and R. Mumford, European Foundation for Plant Pathology, 2008, 355-363.
- 25. J. Belasque Jr, M. Gasparoto and L. Marcassa, Applied Optics, 2008, 47, 1922-1926.
- 26. C. Bravo, D. Moshou, R. Oberti, J. West, A. McCartney, L. Bodria and H. Ramon, *Journal of Scientific Research and Development*, 2004.
- 27. S. Lenk, L. Chaerle, E. E. Pfündel, G. Langsdorf, D. Hagenbeek, H. K. Lichtenthaler, D. Van Der Straeten and C. Buschmann, *Journal of experimental botany*, 2007, **58**, 807-814.
- L. Chaerle, S. Lenk, D. Hagenbeek, C. Buschmann and D. Van Der Straeten, *Journal of plant physiology*, 2007, 164, 253-262.
- 29. H. Z. M. Shafri and N. Hamdan, American Journal of Applied Sciences, 2009, 6, 1031-1035.
- 30. B. Chen, K. Wang, S. Li, J. Wang, J. Bai, C. Xiao and J. Lai, Computer And Computing Technologies In Agriculture, Volume II, 2008, 1169-1180.
- 31. H. H. Muhammed, *Biosystems Engineering*, 2005, **91**, 9-20.
- 32. J. S. West, C. Bravo, R. Oberti, D. Lemaire, D. Moshou and H. A. McCartney, *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, 2003, 41, 593-614.

- L. Chaerle, D. Hagenbeek, E. De Bruyne, R. Valcke and D. Van Der Straeten, *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 2004, 45, 887-896.
- 34. D. Narvankar, C. Singh, D. Jayas and N. White, Biosystems Engineering, 2009, 103, 49-56.
- 35. M. Fatmi, V. Damsteegt and N. Schaad, Plant Pathology, 2005, 54, 1-7.
- 36. H. Zhang and J. Wang, *Journal of Stored Products Research*, 2007, **43**, 489-495.
- 37. F. Spinelli, M. Noferini and G. Costa, International Workshop on Fire Blight, 2004.
- 38. J. Xing and J. De Baerdemaeker, Postharvest Biology and Technology, 2005, 37, 152-162.
- 39. T. Guillemette, B. Iacomi-Vasilescu and P. Simoneau, *Plant Disease*, 2004, **88**, 490-496.
- 40. K. A. Stevens and L. A. Jaykus, *Critical Reviews in Microbiology*, 2004, **30**, 7-24.
- 41. H. Kim and A. K. Bhunia, Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 2008, 74, 4853-4866.
- 42. O. Olsvik, T. Popovic, E. Skjerve, K. S. Cudjoe, E. Hornes, J. Ugelstad and M. Uhlen, *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 1994, 7, 43-54.
- 43. P. IRWIN, W. Damert, J. Brewster, A. Gehring, *Journal of Rapid Methods & Automation in Microbiology*, 2002, **10**, 129-147.
- 44. S. S. Iqbal, M. W. Mayo, J. G. Bruno, B. V. Bronk, C. A. Batt and J. P. Chambers, *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, 2000, 15, 549-578.
- 45. A. K. Bhunia, Critical reviews in microbiology, 1997, 23, 77-107.
- 46. A. K. Deisingh and M. Thompson, Canadian journal of microbiology, 2004, 50, 69-77.
- 47. D. H. J. Bunka and P. G. Stockley, Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2006, 4, 588-596.
- 48. E. Torres-Chavolla and E. C. Alocilja, Biosensors and Bioelectronics, 2009, 24, 3175-3182.
- 49. G. M. Birnbaumer, P. A. Lieberzeit, L. Richter, R. Schirhagl, M. Milnera, F. L. Dickert, A. Bailey and P. Ertl, *Lab on Chip*, 2009, **9**, 3549-3556.
- 50. O. K. Koo, Y. S. Liu, S. Shuaib, S. Bhattacharya, M. R. Ladisch, R. Bashir and A. K. Bhunia, *Analytical Chemistry*, 2009, **81**, 3094-3101.
- 51. A. J. Kell, G. Stewart, S. Ryan, R. Peytavi, M. Boissinot, A. Huletsky, M. G. Bergeron and B. Simard, ACS Nano, 2008, 2, 1777-1788.
- 52. R. Riahi, K. E. Mach, R. Mohan, J. C. Liao and P. K. Wong, Analytical Chemistry, 2011, 83, 6349-6354.
- 53. T. M. Blicharz, W. L. Siqueira, E. J. Helmerhorst, F. G. Oppenheim, P. J. Wexler, F. F. Little and D. R. Walt, *Analytical Chemistry*, 2009, **81**, 2106-2114.
- 54. M. L. Tortorello and D. S. Stewart, Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 1994, 60, 3553-3559.
- 55. H. Yu and J. G. Bruno, Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 1996, 62, 587-592.
- 56. T. Geng, M. T. Morgan and A. K. Bhunia, Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 2004, 70, 6138-6146.
- 57. S. H. U. I. TU, C. Wijey, G. Paoli, P. Irwin and A. Gehring, *Journal of Rapid Methods & Automation in Microbiology*, 2004, **12**, 207-219.
- 58. V. Nanduri, A. K. Bhunia, S. I. Tu, G. C. Paoli and J. D. Brewster, *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, 2007, 23, 248-252.
- 59. M. M. López, E. Bertolini, A. Olmos, P. Caruso, M. T. Gorris, P. Llop, R. Penyalver and M. Cambra, *International Microbiology*, 2003, **6**, 233-243.
- 60. C. Danks and I. Barker, EPPO Bulletin, 2008, 30, 421-426.
- 61. L. Kox, I. R. Brouwershaven, B. Vossenberg, H. E. Beld, P. Bonants and J. Gruyter, *Phytopathology*, 2007, 97, 1119-1129.
- 62. C. Lane, E. Hobden, L. Walker, V. Barton, A. Inman, K. Hughes, H. Swan, A. Colyer and I. Barker, *Plant Pathology*, 2007, 56, 828-835.
- 63. G. A. Posthuma-Trumpie, J. Korf and A. van Amerongen, Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, 2009, 393, 569-582.
- 64. N. Schaad, Y. Berthier-Schaad, A. Sechler and D. Knorr, *Plant Disease*, 1999, 83, 1095-1100.
- 65. B. Prithiviraj, A. Vikram, A. Kushalappa and V. Yaylayan, European Journal of Plant Pathology, 2004, 110, 371-377.
- 66. M. Saponari, K. Manjunath and R. K. Yokomi, Journal of Virological Methods, 2008, 147, 43-53.
- 67. N. Thaitrong, P. Liu, T. Briese, I. Lipkin, T. N. Chiesl, Y. Higa and R. A. Mathies, Analytical Chemistry, 2010, 82, 10102.
- 68. Y. S. Huh, J. H. Choi, T. J. Park, Y. K. Hong, W. H. Hong and S. Y. Lee, *Electrophoresis*, 2007, 28, 4748-4757.
- 69. T. Grahl and H. Märkl, Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 1996, 45, 148-157.
- 70. N. Privorotskaya, Y. S. Liu, J. Lee, H. Zeng, J. A. Carlisle, A. Radadia, L. Millet, R. Bashir and W. P. King, *Lab on Chip*, 2010, **10**, 1135-1141.
- 71. A. C. Grabski, Methods in Enzymology, 2009, 463, 285-303.
- 72. K. H. Cheong, D. K. Yi, J. G. Lee, J. M. Park, M. J. Kim, J. B. Edel and C. Ko, Lab on Chip, 2008, 8, 810-813.
- 73. P. J. Asiello and A. J. Baeumner, Lab on a Chip, 2011, 11, 1420-1430.
- 74. I. K. Dimov, J. L. Garcia-Cordero, J. O'Grady, C. R. Poulsen, C. Viguier, L. Kent, P. Daly, B. Lincoln, M. Maher and R. O'Kennedy, *Lab on Chip*, 2008, **8**, 2071-2078.
- 75. Y. Zhang, S. Park, K. Liu, J. Tsuan, S. Yang and T. H. Wang, Lab on Chip, 2010, 11, 398-406.
- 76. P. Weber, M. Focke, B. Faltin, J. Hoffmann, C. Müller, D. Mark, G. Roth, P. Munday, N. Armes and O. Piepenburg, *Lab* on Chip, 2010, **10**, 887-893.
- 77. F. Shen, E. K. Davydova, W. Du, J. E. Kreutz, O. Piepenburg and R. F. Ismagilov, Analytical Chemistry, 2011, 83, 3533.
- 78. X. Fang, Y. Liu, J. Kong and X. Jiang, Analytical Chemistry, 2010, 82, 3002-3006.
- 79. M. Mahalanabis, J. Do, H. ALMuayad, J. Y. Zhang and C. M. Klapperich, Biomedical microdevices, 2010, 12, 353-359.
- 80. H. Wang, C. Zhang and D. Xing, *Microchimica Acta*, 2011, **173**, 503-512.

- 81. S. H. U. I. TU, M. Golden, P. Andreotti and P. Irwin, *Journal of Rapid Methods & Automation in Microbiology*, 2002, **10**, 37-48.
- 82. S. Dwarakanath, J. G. Bruno, A. Shastry, T. Phillips, A. John, A. Kumar and L. D. Stephenson, *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 2004, **325**, 739-743.
- 83. K. L. Gunderson, F. J. Steemers, G. Lee, L. G. Mendoza and M. S. Chee, Nature Genetics, 2005, 37, 549-554.
- 84. R. Mumford, N. Boonham, J. Tomlinson and I. Barker, European Journal of Plant Pathology, 2006, 116, 1-19.
- 85. B. Gharizadeh, M. Käller, P. Nyrén, A. Andersson, M. Uhlén, J. Lundeberg and A. Ahmadian, *Nucleic Acids Research*, 2003, **31**, e146-.
- 86. J. Zhou, Current Opinion in Microbiology, 2003, 6, 288-294.
- 87. B. Lievens, L. Claes, A. C. R. C. Vanachter, B. Cammue and B. P. H. J. Thomma, *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 2006, 255, 129-139.
- 88. A. Fessehaie, S. H. De Boer and C. A. Lévesque, *Phytopathology*, 2003, 93, 262-269.
- B. Lievens, M. Brouwer, A. C. R. C. Vanachter, C. A. Lévesque, B. Cammue and B. P. H. J. Thomma, *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 2006, 223, 113-122.
- G. Pasquini, M. Barba, A. Hadidi, F. Faggioli, R. Negri, I. Sobol, A. Tiberini, K. Caglayan, H. Mazyad and G. Anfoka, Journal of Virological Methods, 2008, 147, 118-126.
- 91. N. Zhang, D. M. Geiser and C. D. Smart, Plant Disease, 2007, 91, 1612-1620.
- 92. F. Louws, J. Rademaker and F. De Bruijn, Annual Review of Phytopathology, 1999, 37, 81-125.
- 93. R. Pinard, A. de Winter, G. J. Sarkis, M. B. Gerstein, K. R. Tartaro, R. N. Plant, M. Egholm, J. M. Rothberg and J. H. Leamon, *Bmc Genomics*, 2006, 7, 216.
- 94. M. Ruiz-Altisent, L. Ruiz-García, G. Moreda, R. Lu, N. Hernández-Sánchez, E. Correa, B. Diezma, B. Nicolaï and J. García-Ramos, *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 2010, **74**, 176-194.
- 95. M. A. Markom, A. Shakaff, A. Adom, M. Ahmad, W. Hidayat, A. Abdullah and N. A. Fikri, *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 2009, **66**, 140-146.
- 96. J. Laothawornkitkul, J. P. Moore, J. E. Taylor, M. Possell, T. D. Gibson, C. N. Hewitt and N. D. Paul, *Environmental Science & Technology*, 2008, **42**, 8433-8439.
- 97. R. Lu and N. Tipper, Applied Engineering in Agriculture, 2009, 25, 517-523.
- 98. P. Chen, Y. Sarig and J. Thompson, Proceeding Postharvest Congress, 2000, 26-31.
- D. Slaughter, M. Ruiz Altisent, J. Thompson, P. Chen, Y. Sarig and M. Anderson, *Transactions-american Society of Agricultural Engineers*, 2009, 52, 193-199.
- M. M. López, P. Llop, A. Olmos, E. Marco-Noales, M. Cambra and E. Bertolini, *Current Issues in Molecular Biology*, 2009, 11, 13.
- 101. P. Vincelli and N. Tisserat, Plant Disease, 2008, 92, 660-669.
- 102. C. R. Thornton, A. C. Groenhof, R. Forrest and R. Lamotte, Phytopathology, 2004, 94, 280-288.
- J. Tomlinson, N. Boonham, K. Hughes, R. Griffin and I. Barker, *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 2005, 71, 6702-6710.
- 104. P. A. Emanuel, R. Bell, J. L. Dang, R. McClanahan, J. C. David, R. J. Burgess, J. Thompson, L. Collins and T. Hadfield, *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 2003, **41**, 689-693.
- 105. R. L. Rich and D. G. Myszka, Journal of Molecular Recognition, 2007, 20, 300-366.
- 106. S. Neethirajan, I. Kobayashi, M. Nakajima, D. Wu, S. Nandagopal and F. Lin, Lab on Chip, 2011, 11, 1574-1586.
- 107. N. W. Schaad and R. D. Frederick, Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology, 2002, 24, 250-258.
- 108. A. M. Alvarez, Annual Review Phytopathol, 2004, 42, 339-366.
- 109. L. D. Mello and L. T. Kubota, Food Chemistry, 2002, 77, 237-256.
- D. Chen, M. Mauk, X. Qiu, C. Liu, J. Kim, S. Ramprasad, S. Ongagna, W. R. Abrams, D. Malamud and P. L. Corstjens, Biomedical Microdevices, 2010, 12, 705-719.
- 111. D. P. Manage, Y. C. Morrissey, A. J. Stickel, J. Lauzon, A. Atrazhev, J. P. Acker and L. M. Pilarski, *Microfluidics and Nanofluidics*, 2011, **10**, 697-702.
- 112. R. Fair, Microfluidics and nanofluidics, 2007, 3, 245-281.
- 113. N. L. Rosi and C. A. Mirkin, Chemical Reviews-Columbus, 2005, 105, 1547.
- 114. Q. Pan, O. Shai, L. J. Lee, B. J. Frey and B. J. Blencowe, Nature Genetics, 2008, 40, 1413-1415.
- 115. M. D. Mailman, M. Feolo, Y. Jin, M. Kimura, K. Tryka, R. Bagoutdinov, L. Hao, A. Kiang, J. Paschall and L. Phan, *Nature Genetics*, 2007, **39**, 1181-1186.
- 116. G. I. Arabidopsis, Nature, 2000, 408, 796.
- 117. D. Weigel and R. Mott, Genome Biology, 2009, 10, 107.
- 118. F. Sanger, S. Nicklen and A. R. Coulson, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 1977, 74, 5463-5467.
- 119. M. Thudi, Y. Li, S. A. Jackson, G. D. May and R. K. Varshney, Briefings in Functional Genomics, 2012, 11, 3-11.
- 120. S. A. Goff, D. Ricke, T. H. Lan, G. Presting, R. Wang, M. Dunn, J. Glazebrook, A. Sessions, P. Oeller and H. Varma, *Science*, 2002, **296**, 92-100.
- 121. J. Schmutz, S. B. Cannon, J. Schlueter, J. Ma, T. Mitros, W. Nelson, D. L. Hyten, Q. Song, J. J. Thelen and J. Cheng, *Nature*, 2010, **463**, 178-183.
- 122. O. Jaillon, J. M. Aury, B. Noel, A. Policriti, C. Clepet, A. Casagrande, N. Choisne, S. Aubourg, N. Vitulo and C. Jubin, *Nature*, 2007, **449**, 463-467.

- 123. A. N. Egan, J. Schlueter and D. M. Spooner, American Journal of Botany, 2012, 99, 175-185.
- 124. D. T. Okou, K. M. Steinberg, C. Middle, D. J. Cutler, T. J. Albert and M. E. Zwick, Nature Methods, 2007, 4, 907-909.
- 125. E. Hodges, Z. Xuan, V. Balija, M. Kramer, M. N. Molla, S. W. Smith, C. M. Middle, M. J. Rodesch, T. J. Albert and G. J. Hannon, *Nature Genetics*, 2007, **39**, 1522-1527.
- S. Singh-Gasson, R. D. Green, Y. Yue, C. Nelson, F. Blattner, M. R. Sussman and F. Cerrina, *Nature Biotechnology*, 1999, 17, 974-978.
- 127. M. Ronaghi, M. Uhlén and P. Nyrén, Science, 1998, 281, 363, 365.
- 128. P. Nyrén, Methods in Molecular Biology, 2007, 373, 1.
- 129. D. R. Bentley, S. Balasubramanian, H. P. Swerdlow, G. P. Smith, J. Milton, C. G. Brown, K. P. Hall, D. J. Evers, C. L. Barnes and H. R. Bignell, *Nature*, 2008, **456**, 53-59.
- 130. J. Guo, N. Xu, Z. Li, S. Zhang, J. Wu, D. H. Kim, M. S. Marma, Q. Meng, H. Cao and X. Li, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2008, **105**, 9145-9150.
- 131. S. Azam, V. Thakur, P. Ruperao, T. Shah, J. Balaji, B. P. Amindala, A. D. Farmer, D. J. Studholme, G. D. May and D. Edwards, *American Journal of Botany*, 2012, **99**, 186-192.
- R. J. A. Buggs, S. Renny-Byfield, M. Chester, I. E. Jordon-Thaden, L. F. Viccini, S. Chamala, A. R. Leitch, P. S. Schnable, W. B. Barbazuk and P. S. Soltis, *American Journal of Botany*, 2012, 99, 372-382.
- J. M. Rothberg, W. Hinz, T. M. Rearick, J. Schultz, W. Mileski, M. Davey, J. H. Leamon, K. Johnson, M. J. Milgrew and M. Edwards, *Nature*, 2011, 475, 348-352.
- 134. B. P. Howden, C. R. E. McEvoy, D. L. Allen, K. Chua, W. Gao, P. F. Harrison, J. Bell, G. Coombs, V. Bennett-Wood and J. L. Porter, *PLoS Pathogens*, 2011, 7, e1002359.
- 135. U. Landegren, R. Kaiser, J. Sanders and L. Hood, Science, 1988, 241, 1077.
- 136. J. Shendure, G. J. Porreca, N. B. Reppas, X. Lin, J. P. McCutcheon, A. M. Rosenbaum, M. D. Wang, K. Zhang, R. D. Mitra and G. M. Church, *Science*, 2005, **309**, 1728-1732.
- 137. M. Imelfort and D. Edwards, Briefings in Bioinformatics, 2009, 10, 609-618.
- 138. M. L. Metzker, Nature Reviews Genetics, 2009, 11, 31-46.
- 139. A. Bräutigam and U. Gowik, Plant Biology, 2010, 12, 831-841.
- 140. P. K. Wall, J. Leebens-Mack, A. S. Chanderbali, A. Barakat, E. Wolcott, H. Liang, L. Landherr, L. P. Tomsho, Y. Hu and J. E. Carlson, *BMC Genomics*, 2009, **10**, 347.
- 141. R. Garg, R. K. Patel, A. K. Tyagi and M. Jain, DNA Research, 2011, 18, 53-63.
- 142. B. Scheffler, D. Kuhn, J. Motamayor and R. Schnell, Plant and Animal Genomes XVII, San Diego, USA, 2009.
- 143. E. K. Al-Dous, B. George, M. E. Al-Mahmoud, M. Y. Al-Jaber, H. Wang, Y. M. Salameh, E. K. Al-Azwani, S. Chaluvadi, A. C. Pontaroli and J. DeBarry, *Nature Biotechnology*, 2011, 29, 521-527.
- 144. D. K. Manter, J. A. Delgado, D. G. Holm and R. A. Stong, *Microbial Ecology*, 2010, 60, 157-166.
- 145. I. P. Adams, R. H. Glover, W. A. Monger, R. Mumford, E. Jackeviciene, M. Navalinskiene, M. Samuitiene and N. Boonham, *Molecular Plant Pathology*, 2009, 10, 537-545.
- 146. R. Cronn, B. J. Knaus, A. Liston, P. J. Maughan, M. Parks, J. V. Syring and J. Udall, American Journal of Botany, 2012, 99, 291-311.
- 147. Y. Fu, N. M. Springer, D. J. Gerhardt, K. Ying, C. T. Yeh, W. Wu, R. Swanson □ Wagner, M. D'Ascenzo, T. Millard and L. Freeberg, *The Plant Journal*, 2010, **62**, 898-909.
- 148. M. O. Winfield, P. A. Wilkinson, A. M. Allen, G. L. Barker, J. A. Coghill, A. Burridge, A. Hall, R. C. Brenchley, R. D'Amore and N. Hall, *Plant Biotechnology Journal*, 2012, **10**, 733-742.
- 149. L. Zhou and J. A. Holliday, BMC Genomics, 2012, 13, 703.
- 150. L. G. Neves, J. M. Davis, W. B. Barbazuk and M. Kirst, The Plant Journal, 2013, 75, 146-156.
- 151. P. C. Bundock, R. E. Casu and R. J. Henry, *Plant Biotechnology Journal*, 2012, 10, 657-667.
- 152. C. Saintenac, D. Jiang and E. D. Akhunov, Genome Biology, 2011, 12, R88.
- 153. A. Gnirke, A. Melnikov, J. Maguire, P. Rogov, E. M. LeProust, W. Brockman, T. Fennell, G. Giannoukos, S. Fisher and C. Russ, *Nature Biotechnology*, 2009, **27**, 182-189.
- 154. E. H. Turner, C. Lee, S. B. Ng, D. A. Nickerson and J. Shendure, Nature Methods, 2009, 6, 315-316.
- 155. S. Rounsley, P. R. Marri, Y. Yu, R. He, N. Sisneros, J. L. Goicoechea, S. J. Lee, A. Angelova, D. Kudrna and M. Luo, *Rice*, 2009, **2**, 35-43.
- 156. P. K. Gupta, Trends in Biotechnology, 2008, 26, 602-611.
- 157. D. Pushkarev, N. F. Neff and S. R. Quake, Nature Biotechnology, 2009, 27, 847-850.
- 158. M. J. Levene, J. Korlach, S. W. Turner, M. Foquet, H. G. Craighead and W. W. Webb, Science, 2003, 299, 682-686.
- 159. K. R. Lieberman, G. M. Cherf, M. J. Doody, F. Olasagasti, Y. Kolodji, M. Akeson, K. Lieberman, G. Cherf and M. Doody, *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 2010, **132**, 17961.
- 160. S. Howorka, S. Cheley and H. Bayley, Nature Biotechnology, 2001, 19, 636-639.
- 161. J. Clarke, H. C. Wu, L. Jayasinghe, A. Patel, S. Reid and H. Bayley, Nature Nanotechnology, 2009, 4, 265-270.
- 162. T. D. Harris, P. R. Buzby, H. Babcock, E. Beer, J. Bowers, I. Braslavsky, M. Causey, J. Colonell, J. DiMeo and J. W. Efcavitch, *Science*, 2008, **320**, 106-109.
- L. Orlando, A. Ginolhac, M. Raghavan, J. Vilstrup, M. Rasmussen, K. Magnussen, K. E. Steinmann, P. Kapranov, J. F. Thompson and G. Zazula, *Genome Research*, 2011, 21, 1705-1719.
- 164. M. Kircher and J. Kelso, *Bioessays*, 2010, 32, 524-536.

- 165. R. Treffer and V. Deckert, Current Opinion in Biotechnology, 2010, 21, 4-11.
- 166. D. Branton, D. W. Deamer, A. Marziali, H. Bayley, S. A. Benner, T. Butler, M. Di Ventra, S. Garaj, A. Hibbs and X. Huang, *Nature Biotechnology*, 2008, 26, 1146-1153.
- 167. L. Mamanova, A. J. Coffey, C. E. Scott, I. Kozarewa, E. H. Turner, A. Kumar, E. Howard, J. Shendure and D. J. Turner, *Nature Methods*, 2010, 7, 111-118.
- 168. C. E. Grover, A. Salmon and J. F. Wendel, American Journal of Botany, 2012, 99, 312-319.
- 169. M. C. Schatz, A. L. Delcher and S. L. Salzberg, Genome Research, 2010, 20, 1165-1173.
- 170. J. R. Miller, S. Koren and G. Sutton, *Genomics*, 2010, 95, 315.
- 171. A. Bateman and J. Quackenbush, *Bioinformatics*, 2009.
- 172. E. Pennisi, Science, 2008, 319, 1333-1333.
- 173. J. J. Smith, J. Waage, J. W. Woodhall, S. J. Bishop and N. J. Spence, *Sustainable Disease Management in a European Context*, 2008, 365-375.
- 174. J. S. Towner, T. K. Sealy, M. L. Khristova, C. G. Albariño, S. Conlan, S. A. Reeder, P. L. Quan, W. I. Lipkin, R. Downing and J. W. Tappero, *PLoS Pathogens*, 2008, 4, e1000212.
- 175. S. K. Sia and G. M. Whitesides, *Electrophoresis*, 2003, 24, 3563-3576.
- 176. I. F. Cheng, C. C. Lin, D. Y. Lin and H. C. Chang, Biomicrofluidics, 2010, 4, 034104.
- 177. S. Park, Y. Zhang, T. H. Wang and S. Yang, Lab on Chip, 2011, 11, 2893-2900.
- 178. C. H. Wang, K. Y. Lien, T. Y. Wang, T. Y. Chen and G. B. Lee, Biosensors and Bioelectronics, 2011, 26, 2045-2052.
- 179. C. Liu, E. Geva, M. Mauk, X. Qiu, W. R. Abrams, D. Malamud, K. Curtis, S. M. Owen and H. H. Bau, *Analyst*, 2011, **136**, 2069-2076.
- 180. S. Mulvaney, C. Cole, M. Kniller, M. Malito, C. Tamanaha, J. Rife, M. Stanton and L. Whitman, *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, 2007, 23, 191-200.
- 181. A. Bhattacharyya and C. M. Klapperich, Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical, 2008, 129, 693-698.
- 182. M. A. M. Gijs, Microfluidics and nanofluidics, 2004, 1, 22-40.
- 183. J. Kim and B. K. Gale, *Lab on Chip*, 2008, **8**, 1516-1523.
- 184. X. Chen, D. Cui, C. Liu, H. Li and J. Chen, Analytica Chimica Acta, 2007, 584, 237-243.
- 185. D. S. Reichmuth, S. K. Wang, L. M. Barrett, D. J. Throckmorton, W. Einfeld and A. K. Singh, *Lab on Chip*, 2008, 8, 1319-1324.
- 186. J. Kim, M. Mauk, D. Chen, X. Qiu, B. Gale and H. H. Bau, Analyst, 2010, 135, 2408-2414.
- 187. K. Y. Hwang, S. Y. Jeong, Y. R. Kim, K. Namkoong, H. K. Lim, W. S. Chung, J. H. Kim and N. Huh, Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical, 2011, 154, 46-51.
- 188. N. Boonham, J. Tomlinson and R. Mumford, Annu. Rev. Phytopathol, 2007, 45, 307-328.
- 189. Y. Zeng, R. Novak, J. Shuga, M. T. Smith and R. A. Mathies, Analytical Chemistry, 2010, 82, 3183-3190.
- 190. S. Huang, C. Li, B. Lin and J. Qin, Lab on Chip, 2010, 10, 2925-2931.
- 191. T. F. Didar, A. M. Foudeh and M. Tabrizian, Analytical Chemistry, 2011, 84, 1012-1018.
- 192. J. M. Klostranec, Q. Xiang, G. A. Farcas, J. A. Lee, A. Rhee, E. I. Lafferty, S. D. Perrault, K. C. Kain and W. C. W. Chan, Nano Letters, 2007, 7, 2812-2818.
- 193. M. Madou, J. Zoval, G. Jia, H. Kido, J. Kim and N. Kim, Annual Review Biomedical Engineering, 2006, 8, 601-628.
- 194. X. Weng, H. Jiang and D. Li, Microfluidics and Nanofluidics, 2011, 11, 367-383.
- 195. R. Seemann, M. Brinkmann, T. Pfohl and S. Herminghaus, Reports on Progress in Physics, 2011, 75, 016601.
- 196. N. Ramalingam, Z. Rui, H. B. Liu, C. C. Dai, R. Kaushik, B. Ratnaharika and H. Q. Gong, Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical, 2010, 145, 543-552.
- 197. A. W. Martinez, S. T. Phillips, G. M. Whitesides and E. Carrilho, Analytical Chemistry, 2009, 82, 3-10.
- N. R. Beer, E. K. Wheeler, L. Lee-Houghton, N. Watkins, S. Nasarabadi, N. Hebert, P. Leung, D. W. Arnold, C. G. Bailey and B. W. Colston, *Analytical Chemistry*, 2008, 80, 1854-1858.
- 199. T. D. Rane, H. Zec, C. Puleo, A. Lee and T. H. Wang, Conference of Micro Electro Mechanical Sysmets, 2011, 881-884, Cancon, Mexico.
- 200. A. C. Rowat, S. Köster and D. A. Weitz, Lab on Chip, 2009, 9, 44-49.
- 201. L. Malic, M. G. Sandros and M. Tabrizian, Analytical Chemistry, 2011, 83, 5222-5229.
- 202. Y. H. Chang, G. B. Lee, F. C. Huang, Y. Y. Chen and J. L. Lin, Biomedical Microdevices, 2006, 8, 215-225.
- R. Sista, Z. Hua, P. Thwar, A. Sudarsan, V. Srinivasan, A. Eckhardt, M. Pollack and V. Pamula, *Lab on Chip*, 2008, 8, 2091-2104.
- M. G. Roper, C. J. Easley, L. A. Legendre, J. A. C. Humphrey and J. P. Landers, *Analytical Chemistry*, 2007, 79, 1294-1300.
- 205. R. G. Blazej, P. Kumaresan and R. A. Mathies, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2006, 103, 7240-7245.
- 206. R. Mariella, Biomedical Microdevices, 2008, 10, 777-784.
- 207. C. A. Emrich, H. Tian, I. L. Medintz and R. A. Mathies, Analytical Chemistry, 2002, 74, 5076-5083.
- W. A. Monger, T. Alicai, J. Ndunguru, Z. Kinyua, M. Potts, R. Reeder, D. Miano, I. Adams, N. Boonham and R. Glover, Archives of Virology, 2010, 155, 429-433.
- U. Melcher, V. Muthukumar, G. B. Wiley, B. E. Min, M. W. Palmer, J. Verchot-Lubicz, A. Ali, R. S. Nelson, B. A. Roe and V. Thapa, *Journal of Virological Methods*, 2008, 152, 49-55.
- 210. S. C. Schuster, Nature, 2007, 200.

- 211. M. Akeson, D. Branton, J. J. Kasianowicz, E. Brandin and D. W. Deamer, Biophysical Journal, 1999, 77, 3227-3233.
- 212. A. Meller, L. Nivon, E. Brandin, J. Golovchenko and D. Branton, *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2000, **97**, 1079-1084.
- 213. A. Meller, L. Nivon and D. Branton, *Physical Review Letters*, 2001, 86, 3435.
- 214. M. Zwolak and M. Di Ventra, Reviews of Modern Physics, 2008, 80, 141.
- 215. M. E. Gracheva, A. Aksimentiev and J.-P. Leburton, Nanotechnology, 2006, 17, 3160.
- 216. A. Storm, J. Chen, X. Ling, H. Zandbergen and C. Dekker, Nature Materials, 2003, 2, 537-540.
- 217. P. Chen, T. Mitsui, D. B. Farmer, J. Golovchenko, R. G. Gordon and D. Branton, Nano Letters, 2004, 4, 1333-1337.